IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

No. 20-0822

JEFFREY WILLIAMS

Appellant,

versus

SCOTT BECKNER AND MARK BULLOCK,

Appellees.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR JOHNSON COUNTY
THE HONORABLE ANDREW CHAPPELL
NO. CVCV079931

APPELLANT'S AMENDED BRIEF

SMITH MILLS
SCHROCK BLADES, P.C.



Skylar J. Limkemann, AT0012324

118 3rd Ave SE, Suite 200

Cedar Rapids, IA 52406-0036

Telephone: (319) 286-1743

Fax: (319) 286-1748

Email: skimkemann@smithmillslaw.com

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. Whether the district court erred in interpreting and applying Iowa Code Section 35C.6.
- II. Whether this Court should reverse the district court and sustain the writ.

ROUTING STATEMENT

The Court should retain this case because it presents matters of first impression, constitutional questions, questions of statutory interpretation, substantial questions of enunciating or changing legal principles, and presents fundamental and urgent issues of broad public importance requiring prompt or ultimate determination by the Court. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal by Jeffrey Williams (Williams) from the final order of the district court, namely an order annulling Williams' writ of certiorari and dismissing his claims.

Respondents, Scott Beckner (Beckner) and Mark Bullock (Bullock), terminated Williams employment as a Police Officer III for the University of Iowa Department of Public Safety. Williams petitioned the district court for a writ of certiorari. On October 31, 2019, the district court held a one-day evidentiary hearing. At the hearing, the parties agreed that the matter would be tried in equity.

On December 11, 2019, the district court heard testimony from the final witness. On May 5, 2020, the district court issued its ruling. Therein, the district court annulled Williams' writ of certiorari and dismissed his claims. Williams filed a timely notice of appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

University hired Williams under veterans' preference

Williams applied for a police officer position with the University of Iowa Department of Public Safety (DPS), providing his DD-214.¹ The University verified Williams qualified as a veteran on February 10, 2016, confirmed it in writing, and hired Williams under veterans' preference.² The University hired Williams as a police officer effective July 18, 2016.³ Bullock, Chief Lucy Wiederholt (Wiederholt), and Beckner knew Williams is a veteran.⁴

April 14, 2018: residence hall staff find drugs, alcohol, and flammable materials

¹ Ex. 2 (University of Iowa Merit Employment Application); Ex. 1 (DD-214 Form); Ex. 3 (Email from Williams to University regarding veteran's status verification, dated 2/10/16).

² App. Vol. I pp. 523, 529 (Ruling at 1, 7).

³ Ex. 4 at 1; Ex. 67, 913: 3-5.

⁴ App. Vol. I p. 529 (Ruling at 7); App. Vol. I pp. 40-41 (HT 40: 19-25, 41: 1-5; 268: 19-25; 269: 1-5).

On April 14, 2018, Catlett Hall was the University's newest, largest residence hall, opening at the start of the 2017-2018 school year.⁵ That night, residence hall staff received "multiple complaints" concerning the strong odor of marijuana on the tenth floor of Catlett Residence Hall.⁶ Student residence hall staff responded and tracked the odor to Room 1090.⁷ They contacted their supervisor, professional staff member Dave Jager, who responded to the scene.⁸ After they knocked and announced their presence, Jager and the student staff used their key to enter the room.⁹ They observed drugs, paraphernalia, and contraband.¹⁰ Jager moved the items to the center of the floor.¹¹ Hall staff then called DPS.¹²

Officer Williams is dispatched to the drug call at Catlett Hall

Williams responded to a drug call at Catlett Residence Hall at the request of residence hall staff.¹³ A female student residence hall staff member met Williams and escorted him to the tenth floor, informing Williams on the way that hall staff

⁵ Ex. 67, 915: 21-25; 916: 1-3; Ex. 62 pp. 684-685.

⁶ Ex. 38 at 3.

⁷ Ex. 38.

⁸ Ex. 38.

⁹ Ex. 38.

¹⁰ App. Vol. I p. 529 (Ruling at 7).

¹¹ Ex. 38 at 3.

¹² App. Vol. I p. 529 (Ruling at 7).

¹³ App. Vol. I p. 529 (Ruling at 7), pp. 94-103 (HT pp. 54-63); Ex. 67, 935: 17-20; Ex. 68, Transcript 1 at 17.

received complaints regarding the odor, they keyed into the room, found contraband, and moved it to the center of the room.¹⁴

Upon exiting the elevator on the tenth floor of Catlett Hall, Williams immediately smelled the strong odor of marijuana, finding it was emitting throughout the floor.¹⁵ At the time, this concerned him because the smell of marijuana gives him a headache, and he thought about its effect on other people on the floor.¹⁶ As he got closer to Room 1090, the smell grew stronger and stronger, causing Williams even more concern.¹⁷ He characterized the odor as a “noxious odor”.¹⁸ Williams arrived at the room, found the room door open, and entered.¹⁹ Williams activated his body-camera, recording video and audio from that point forward.²⁰

Williams testified that upon entering and smelling the very strong odor of both burnt and fresh marijuana, he believed the room contained more fresh marijuana.²¹

¹⁴ App. Vol. I p. 529 (Ruling at 7), pp. 94-103 (HT pp. 54-63); Ex. 67, pp. 937-938.

¹⁵ App. Vol. I pp. 97-98 (HT pp. 57-58); Ex. 67, 935: 21-25; 936-937; 998: 6-12.

¹⁶ App. Vol. I p. 107: 3-17 (HT 67: 3-17); Ex. 67, pp. 934-937: 1-13.

¹⁷ Ex. 67, pp. 936-937.

¹⁸ App. Vol. I p. 529 (Ruling at 7); Ex. 67, 951: 18-19; App. Vol. I pp. 94-103 (HT pp. 54-63).

¹⁹ App. Vol. I pp. 94-95 (HT 54-55).

²⁰ Ex. 23, X (Williams’ body-camera video, dated 4/14/18).

²¹ App. Vol. I p. 529 (Ruling at 7); Ex. 67, 939: 10-25; 940: 1-8; see also App. Vol. I pp. 94-103 (HT pp. 54-63).

Williams knew he was not able to charge anyone criminally because the hall staff keyed into the room and that he wasn't there for a criminal investigation.²² Williams explained that he believed he needed to find what was still in the room because it posed a danger if he took what hall staff found and just left.²³ Williams testified, "I didn't feel like it was responsible for me to just leave."²⁴ Williams thought he would be negligent in his duties to not address the problem.²⁵

Williams decided to search the immediate area where the hall staff found the items of contraband, believing this to be minimally intrusive.²⁶ Williams asked the hall staff, "Do we think they might have anything else?" Jager responded, "Could be". Williams stated, "I'm gonna open some drawers"... "I can't charge anybody."²⁷ Jager stated that they couldn't search under their policy.²⁸ Williams responded, "I just don't want to have to come back here again."²⁹ Williams explained during his interview, and later testified, that his thinking at the time he made the comment was that if he left knowing that the marijuana and contraband was still in the room, it could turn into a much larger health and safety concern for the students in the

²² Id.; App. Vol. I pp. 100-102 (HT 60: 11-25; 62: 16-22).

²³ Id.

²⁴ Id.

²⁵ Ex. 67, 958: 16-24.

²⁶ App. Vol. I p. 529 (Ruling at 7); Ex. 68 pp. 27-32.

²⁷ App. Vol. I p. 529 (Ruling at 7); Exs. 23 & X.

²⁸ App. Vol. I p. 529 (Ruling at 7).

²⁹ Exs. 23, X at 21:03:38.

building.³⁰ Williams added he did not know what the students would do when they came back and he did not want to have to come back to a larger scale incident, such as a fire or overdose.³¹ Williams explained this at his interview too.³²

Williams then searched and found contraband.³³ At his interview and arbitration, Williams explained that he searched the desk area on both sides of the room because it is where the hall staff originally found the items of contraband, he smelled the marijuana coming from that area, and that it was the typical place drugs are kept in the dorms.³⁴ Williams took the contraband he seized to the police department, turned it into evidence, and wrote a report.³⁵

Bullock receives email seeking clarification and starts formal investigation

On April 19, 2018, Bullock became aware of an incident involving Williams, which occurred on April 14, 2018, due to an email from Greg Thompson, who is the Director of Residence Education in the University's Housing and Dining Department.³⁶ Bullock read the email, opened the attached Housing and Dining

³⁰ Ex. 67, 940: 9-23; pp. 941-942: 1-2; 948: 8-21; Ex.68 Transcript 2 pp. 27-32, 34.

³¹ Id.; App. Vol. I pp. 99-100, 114-115 (HT pp. 59-60, 74: 18-25; 75: 1).

³² Ex. 68.

³³ App. Vol. I p. 529 (Ruling at 7); Ex. 23 & X.

³⁴ Ex. 67, 942: 3-25; 943: 1-6; Ex. 68 Transcript 2 pp. 27-32, 34.

³⁵ App. Vol. I p. 529 (Ruling at 7); p. 102: 8-15 (HT 62: 8-15).

³⁶ App. Vol. I p. 531 (Ruling at 9), p. 224: 1-23 (HT 184: 1-23); Ex. 58, pp. 29-30; Ex. 58, 34: 5-11.

report, and reviewed it as well.³⁷ Next, Bullock reviewed Williams' incident report.³⁸

At arbitration, Bullock testified that after reviewing the email and both reports he had concerns "that a consentless and warrantless search of a residence occurred."³⁹ He had no concerns with Williams' incident report but for the Housing and Dining Report.⁴⁰ Bullock testified that after reviewing the email and both incident reports he then reviewed Williams' body-worn-camera video from April 14, 2018.⁴¹

Bullock then went to Chief Wiederholt, his direct supervisor.⁴² Bullock told Wiederholt that that he received an email inquiry from residence hall staff about the incident, his findings from his review of the reports and video, he wanted her opinion about it, and suggested an investigation.⁴³ Wiederholt watched Williams' body-cam video up to the point that he was about to exit the dorm room.⁴⁴ Because Wiederholt

³⁷ App. Vol. I p. 225: 2-6 (HT 185: 2-6); Ex. 58, 30: 6-10; see also Ex. 25 (Housing and Dining Report, dated 4/14/2018); Ex. 58, 31: 7-9.

³⁸ App. Vol. I p. 226: 8-20 (HT 186: 8-20); Ex. 58, 30: 6-12; 33: 5-8; App. Vol. II p. 50 (Ex. 24 Williams' incident report, dated 4/14/2018).

³⁹ Ex. 58, 32: 18-23.

⁴⁰ Ex. 58, 36: 2-9.

⁴¹ App. Vol. I p. 531 (Ruling at 9); Ex. 58, 37: 10-17.

⁴² App. Vol. I p. 227 (HT 187: 1-19); Ex. 58, 41: 2-13.

⁴³ App. Vol. I p. 531 (Ruling at 9); Ex. 58, 41: 2-13; 139: 1-11; Ex. 59, 354: 7-14.

⁴⁴ App. Vol. I p. 531 (Ruling at 9); Ex. 58, 41: 14-18; Ex. 59, 355: 17-21.

didn't know what her role would be in the case, she stopped watching at that point.⁴⁵ Wiederholt agreed with Bullock that a formal administrative investigation was appropriate.⁴⁶ She assigned him to investigate and to contact human resources for assistance.⁴⁷ Her instructions were not reduced to writing nor documented.⁴⁸ While they were in Bullock's office, he asked Wiederholt if "this rises to a level of termination" and she responded "depending on what your investigation gleans or discovers, it potentially could rise to the level of termination if employee and labor relations and human resources supports that."⁴⁹ Wiederholt told Bullock that they needed to take this to Beckner.⁵⁰ Bullock testified that he did not remember whether he informed Beckner alone, or if Wiederholt was with him, but Beckner was informed of Bullock's initial impression of the incident on April 19, 2018. Beckner told Bullock that he didn't want to hear or see anything and that they needed to conduct an investigation, which Beckner would review when it was over.⁵¹

Bullock contacted Shelley Stickfort from Employee and Labor Relations; she agreed to assist Bullock.⁵² He arranged for the complaint information to be provided

⁴⁵ Ex. 59, 355: 3-16.

⁴⁶ Ex. 58, 148: 9-12; Ex. 59, 356: 20-24.

⁴⁷ Ex. 58, 41: 14-18.

⁴⁸ Ex. 58, 148: 13-25; 149: 1-2.

⁴⁹ App. Vol. I pp. 269-70 (HT pp. 229-230); Ex. 59, 357: 14-25; 358: 1-2.

⁵⁰ Ex. 58, 143: 1-23.

⁵¹ App. Vol. I pp. 302-303 (HT pp. 262-263); Ex. 58, 143: 1-23.

⁵² App. Vol. I p. 531 (Ruling at 9); Ex. 58, 41: 19-23; 42: 7-8.

to Shelley and they discussed their next steps, including issuing a summary of the complaint and pursuing administrative leave for Williams.⁵³ Bullock testified that he prepared the summary of complaint pursuant to the Peace Officer Bill of Rights, Iowa Code section 80F.1.⁵⁴

Bullock places Williams on paid administrative leave and notifies him of an investigation

Bullock entered Williams' locker and seized equipment before Williams arrived for his shift.⁵⁵ Bullock and Laurie Textor served Williams the summary of complaint, notice of administrative leave, and equipment receipt.⁵⁶ Williams testified that he had no idea what he was under investigation for from the April 14, 2018 incident.⁵⁷

Bullock and Stickfort interview University employees

On or about April 24, 2018, Bullock and Stickfort interviewed two student residence hall staff members, one residence hall professional staff member, Dave Jaeger, Monica Marcello, and Sergeant Nick Jay, who was Williams' direct

⁵³ Ex. 58, 42: 9-17; 43: 1-11, App. Vol. II p. 64 (Ex. 29 Investigation, Summary of Complaint, dated 4/19/2018).

⁵⁴ Id.; see also Ex. 58; App. Vol. I p. 240: 12 (HT 200: 12).

⁵⁵ App. Vol. I p. 248: 1-20 (HT 208: 1-20).

⁵⁶ App. Vol. I p. 531 (Ruling at 9), p. 249: 12-18 (HT 209: 12-18); Ex. 58.

⁵⁷ App. Vol. I pp. 121-124 (HT 81, 82: 10-19; 84: 4-8 (“I didn’t even know what was going on...”)).

supervisor on April 14, 2018.⁵⁸ DPS 1010 policy in effect at that time stated witness interviews should be audio recorded.⁵⁹ Bullock and Stickfort testified that none of these witness interviews were audio or video recorded.⁶⁰ Bullock admitted that they had an audio recorder available and had video recording capabilities at the police department, and that this would not have been a costly or onerous burden on them.⁶¹ The only record from these interviews are Stickfort's handwritten notes. Stickfort provided redacted copies of her notes via email on May 2, 2018 in the afternoon.⁶² It is common for investigators to request witnesses to prepare a written statement, but Bullock admitted that they did not ask any witnesses to do this.⁶³

Bullock interviews Williams

On April 26, 2018, Williams appeared for a formal administrative investigation interview.⁶⁴ Williams was accompanied by counsel.⁶⁵ The interview was audio recorded in three separate audio files. The recordings are in the record in

⁵⁸ App. Vol. I p. 531-32 (Ruling at 9-10); Ex. 58.

⁵⁹ App. Vol. I p. 13 (Ex. 16).

⁶⁰ App. Vol. I pp. 180, 288 (HT pp. 140, 248).

⁶¹ App. Vol. I p. 260 (HT 220).

⁶² App. Vol. I p. 98 (Ex. 51 Correspondence re Williams' case).

⁶³ App. Vol. I pp. 263-264 (HT pp. 223-224).

⁶⁴ App. Vol. I p. 531 (Ruling at 9), p. 126: 8-10 (HT 86: 8-10); Ex. 68.

⁶⁵ Id.

three audio recordings, in addition to transcripts of the recordings (Ex. 68), produced by the State on January 13, 2020.⁶⁶

Before the questioning of Williams started, Stickfort stated,

Obviously the information that we will glean from this conversation today will be a part of our investigatory summary that will be provided to administrative personnel who have authority and responsibility for making decisions based on the information that we learn through the scope of the process. We will share it with those who have a legitimate business need to know and who have a legitimate reason to make decisions with regard to the outcome and follow up related to the information that we obtain.⁶⁷

At the beginning, Bullock explained to Williams that he was going to be asking him questions; Bullock stated it was not an interrogation rather it “is a conversation”.⁶⁸ Bullock said he wasn’t able to gather sufficient information in reviewing the video and that he needed “to have some more formal conversations” under the Peace Officer Bill of Rights, which is why he served Williams with the summary of the complaint.⁶⁹

During the interview, Williams informed them of his perspective, including his observations and senses at the time of the incident.⁷⁰ Bullock testified that no

⁶⁶ On January 13, 2020, Respondents provided a transcript of each of the three audio recordings from April 26, 2018. See Ex. 68.

⁶⁷ Ex. 68, T1 6: 9-20; Ex. 36 (Investigation Audio Recording 1) at 5:07-5:30; App. Vol. I pp. 126-127 (HT 86: 17-23; 87: 1-25).

⁶⁸ Ex. 68, Transcript 1 at 15.

⁶⁹ Ex. 68, Transcript 1 at 16.

⁷⁰ App. Vol. I p. 532 (Ruling at 10); Ex. 68.

specific policies were provided to Williams before his interview, testifying he believed that the standards of conduct and search and seizure policies were provided at the interview.⁷¹

May 3, 2018 Meeting

At the start of the May 3, 2018 meeting, Stickfort stated to Williams that “they were leaning towards termination.”⁷² Stickfort stated,

We want to make sure obviously before we make that decision that we create an opportunity for you to provide information that you think would mitigate that decision. I don’t necessarily have an expectation that you’ll necessarily repeat anything that you shared with us during the scope of our conversation last week. That information is on the record. But we absolutely want to give you a forum which to provide information which would be important for us to know and to hear.⁷³

Moments later, Williams provided his statement.⁷⁴

After Williams provided his statement and information, Stickfort explained the next steps. She stated to Williams and his counsel,

...we will - - Mark and I will go ahead and excuse ourselves. We’ll go back into our office, and we’ve got folks on call waiting to - - for us to hold this conversation with, provide them all of the information that you’ve shared, which is why I was sitting here writing fast and furiously. I appreciate that. I’d like to take the recording with me in

⁷¹ App. Vol. I p. 252: 14-22 (HT 212: 14-22).

⁷² App. Vol. I p. 533 (Ruling at 11); App. Vol. I pp. 136-137 (HT 96: 16-25; 97: 1-5).

⁷³ App. Vol. II p. 69 (Ex. 45 p. 3); (Audio Recording, dated 5/3/18).

⁷⁴ App. Vol. I p. 533 (Ruling at 11), Vol. II p. 67-93 (Ex. 45), Vol. II p. 94-95 (Williams’ statement, dated 5/3/18).

the event there's something they want to hear directly, so I won't leave that in the room.⁷⁵

Bullock admitted that they presented no witnesses, and Wiederholt admitted by the 1010 policy witnesses were not allowed.⁷⁶ Bullock and Stickfort left Williams and Eli Hotchkin in the meeting room.⁷⁷ Stickfort provided Williams an open records advisory (Ex. 47) and inquired if Williams wished to resign, otherwise they provided no other documents to Williams prior to leaving the room to caucus.⁷⁸ Bullock and Stickfort testified that they met in person with Jessica Voelker, University Human Resources Representative, and spoke about what Williams presented.⁷⁹ Upon reentering the room, Bullock informed Williams that he was terminated effective immediately.⁸⁰ Bullock simultaneously handed Williams a termination letter.⁸¹

⁷⁵ App. Vol. II pp. 85-86 (Ex. 45 pp. 19-20); Ex. 36 (Audio Recording, 5/3/18).

⁷⁶ App. Vol. I p. 266: 20-22 (HT 226: 20-22); pp. 394-398 (LWT pp. 29-31).

⁷⁷ App. Vol. II pp. 84-86 (Ex. 45 pp. 18-20).

⁷⁸ Ex. 47.

⁷⁹ App. Vol. I p. 533 (Ruling at 11); Ex. 59, 81: 19-25; 82: 1-22; Ex. 60, 468: 9-13; 469 (explaining Voelker was standing in the place of Textor).

⁸⁰ App. Vol. I p. 533 (Ruling at 11); App. Vol. II p. 86: 19-25, 87: 1-24 (Ex. 45, 20: 19-25; 21: 1-24).

⁸¹ App. Vol. II p. 87: 8-18 (Ex. 45, 21: 8-18) (“Here is a termination letter that is the original. Things that I want to point out in that letter for you is that it is effective today, May 3, 2018. Therefore, this letter does serve as notice of your termination as a police officer III with the department of public safety and the University of Iowa...”); App. Vol. II p. 96 (Ex. 48 Termination letter, 5/3/18).

Williams grieved his termination and was reinstated by an arbitrator.⁸²

Additional facts are stated below.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

Ordinarily, the standard of review of a certiorari action is for correction of errors at law. Fisher v. Chickasaw County, 553 N.W.2d 331, 333 (Iowa 1996). The district court's findings of fact are binding upon the appellate court if supported by substantial evidence. Id.

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