## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 20-0822

## JEFFREY WILLIAMS, Petitioner-Appellant,

VS.

# MARK RICHARD BULLOCK and SCOTT RICHARD BECKNER, Respondents-Appellees.

### APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR JOHNSON COUNTY

#### THE HONORABLE JUDGE ANDREW CHAPPELL

#### APPELLEES' FINAL BRIEF

#### THOMAS J. MILLER

Attorney General of Iowa

#### CHRISTOPHER J. DEIST

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-7204 (515) 281-4902 (fax) christopher.deist@ag.iowa.gov

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENTS-APPELLEES

### **CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE**

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. The District Court Did Not Err in Its Interpretation and Application of Iowa Code § 35C.6.

#### **Preservation of Error**

Appellees agree that Williams has preserved error.

## **Standard of Review**

Typically, appellate review of district court's rulings on certiorari actions is for the correction of errors of law. *Noll v. Iowa Dist. Ct.*, 919 N.W.2d 232, (Iowa 2018) (quoting *Vance v. Iowa Dist. Ct.*, 917 N.W.2d 473, 476 (Iowa 2018)). Additionally, this Court reviews questions of statutory construction for correction of errors of law. *Schaefer v. Putnam*, 841 N.W.2d 68, 74 (Iowa 2013).

However, where a district court tries a case by consent in equity, the standard of review is de novo. See Passehl Estate v. Passehl, 712 N.W.2d 408, 414 (Iowa 2006) (citing Iowa R. App. P. 6.4; Owens v. Brownlie, 610 N.W.2d 860, 865 (Iowa 2000)). Thus, this Court must analyze the District Court's Ruling for correction of errors of law. Only if the Court finds such an error may the Court review the case de novo and decide the case on the record made without remand. O'Dell v. O'Dell, 26 N.W.2d 401, 466 (Iowa 1947). That said, even in such an instance, the Court should give deference to the District Court's findings, though not bound by them. State v. Lowe, 812 N.W.2d 554, 566 (Iowa 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Here, the parties consented to trying the case in equity. App. 1:527.

#### **Merits**

As stated previously, the central issue of this case is whether DPS provided a termination process that satisfied the requirements of Iowa's veterans preference statute, specifically those contained in Iowa Code § 35C.6. This section will discuss the requirements of § 35C.6, then the District Court's analysis and conclusions on the issue in its May 5, 2020 Ruling, and finally, respond to Williams' challenges to the District Court's Ruling.

## A. Requirements Under Iowa Code § 35C.6

Iowa Code § 35C.6 states, in pertinent part:

No person holding a public position by appointment or employment, and belonging to any of the classes of persons to whom a preference is granted under this chapter, shall be removed from such position or employment except for incompetency or misconduct shown after a hearing, upon due notice, upon stated charges, and with the right of such employee or appointee to a review by writ of certiorari or at such person's election, to judicial review in accordance with the terms of the Iowa administrative procedure Act, chapter 17A, if that is otherwise applicable to their case.

Iowa Code § 35C.6 (emphasis added). The purpose of § 35C.6 "is to insure veterans permanency of employment and protect them from removal except for their own incompetency or misconduct." *Kern v. Saydel Cmty. Sch. Dist.*, 637 N.W.2d 157, 161 (Iowa 2001) (citing *Edwards v. Civil Serv. Comm'n*, 287 N.W.2d 285, 287 (Iowa 1939)).

As the District Court noted in its Ruling, chapter 35C does not define the terms "hearing," "due notice," or "stated charges" for the purposes of the chapter. App. 1:540.

Thus, in order to determine whether DPS abided by the requirements of § 35C.6, the District Court needed to determine what those terms mean in the context of the statute, and whether they were satisfied by the process used by DPS in Williams' termination.

## B. The District Court's Analysis and Ruling

In its Ruling, the District Court was guided by the *Kern* decision, particularly as the *Kern* Court noted that "some flexibility is called for in determining the type of predischarge hearing that must be afforded under section 35C.6." App. 1:541 (quoting *Kern*, 637 N.W.2d at 161). The District Court determined, as the *Kern* Court did, that a public institution need not specifically connect its process to the veterans preference law, but could still satisfy § 35C.6 so long as the process used still "satisfied the purpose of section 35C.6..." *Kern*, 637 N.W.2d at 161. In that vein, the District Court outlined three factors to determine whether § 35C.6 was satisfied: "(1) did Williams receive due notice upon stated charges; (2) did Williams receive a hearing on those charges; and (3) at the hearing, did the employer

meet its burden of proving Williams was incompetent or engaged in misconduct?" App. 1:539.

In assessing the process used in the present case, the District Court compared it to the processes in Kern. There, this Court examined the firing of a school custodian, Michael Kern, who was a Navy veteran. Twice in the fall of 1996, Kern had been counseled regarding issues with his job performance, both in-person and in writing. 637 N.W.2d at 158-59. Both times, he was instructed to improve his performance. *Id.* at 158. Seven months later, Kern was informed via written communication that he had failed to clean several classrooms and bathrooms and had left multiple doors unlocked. Id. at 159. The communication also notified Kern that a meeting would be held on June 2, 1997, to discuss his continued employment as step three of the school district's procedures for disciplinary action. Id.

At the June 2 meeting, Kern, along with his union representative, was given an opportunity to respond to the allegations of work deficiencies. *Id.* At the conclusion of the meeting, Kern's supervisor suspended him without pay and informed Kern that he would recommend to the school superintendent that Kern be

terminated. *Id.* However, because the superintendent had not been able to attend the June 2 meeting, Kern was afforded an opportunity to meet with the superintendent separately. *Id.* at 160. That meeting occurred June 16, 1997 – there, Kern was able to review his personnel file, dispute or answer questions about the contents therein, and address any concerns he had. *Id.* In the end, the superintendent agreed with Kern's supervisor and recommended Kern's termination to the school board. *Id.* 

In its analysis of Kern's termination process, this Court noted that when "a formal postdischarge procedure exists in which a discharged employee is afforded a full and complete evidentiary hearing (such as a hearing before the arbitrator provided for in the school district's labor agreement), a predischarge procedure that only calls for notice of deficient performance and an opportunity to respond will satisfy due process." 637 N.W.2d at 160-61 (citing Cleveland Bd. of Educ., 470 U.S. 532, 546 (1985); Winegar v. Des Moines Indep. Cmty. Sch. Dist., 20 F.3d 895, 899 (8th Cir. 1994)). The Court determined that because Kern was given notice of his deficient performance and an opportunity to respond, and the school

district was aware of his post-discharge rights, the purpose of § 35C.6 was satisfied. *Id.* at 161.

The District Court also compared Williams' case to that in Glandon v. Keokuk County Health Center, 408 F.Supp.2d 759 (S.D. Iowa 2005). In Glandon, the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Iowa examined the termination of a director at the Keokuk County Health Center ("KCHC"), Dan Glandon. 408 F.Supp.2d at 760. For several months, Glandon had been part of a strained work environment with the nursing department at KCHC, and had been placed on a performance-improvement plan to address various deficiencies. Id. at 762-64. The plan notified Glandon that at the end of June 2003, his supervisor would review the situation and determine if the professional relationship had improved or whether a decision would need to be made about "the future structure of the leadership team." Id. On July 3, 2003, Glandon received a written letter from his supervisor, detailing KCHC's reasoning for why his employment needed to be terminated. *Id.* at 765. The letter then gave Glandon a four-day deadline to either voluntarily resign or be terminated. Glandon informed his supervisor that he would not resign, and thus KCHC terminated his employment effective July 3,

2003. Glandon then wrote a six-page rebuttal letter to the KCHC board of trustees, responding to the reasons listed in the termination letter. He was also allowed to meet with the board's Executive Committee to make his case, as well as an additional opportunity to speak before the entire KCHC board. Following these proceedings, the board declined to reinstate Glandon.

In the subsequent lawsuit, KCHC argued that Glandon's opportunity to speak before the board's Executive Committee, his performance improvement letter, and the meeting in which he was handed the termination letter satisfied the purposes of § 35C.6. 408 F.Supp.2d at 765. The Southern District rejected this argument, noting that the decision to terminate Glandon had already been made by the July 3 meeting, and that the opportunity to address the KCHC board was insufficient to serve as a full and complete post-discharge evidentiary hearing.

In analyzing these two cases, the District Court determined that William's termination more closely resembled the *Kern* case than *Glandon* case. App. 1:545. Specifically, the District Court pointed to the fact that Williams received a specific complaint against him, as detailed by the April 19, 2018 Summary of Complaint that notified

him there were concerns that the warrantless search he conducted, as well as the manner in which he conducted it, may have violated DPS and University policy. *Id.* Williams was also offered a chance to ask any clarifying questions or to justify his actions at his interview with Bullock and Stickfort on April 26, 2018, as well as at his Loudermill hearing on May 3, 2018. The District Court also noted that after his termination, Williams had a right to a full evidentiary hearing before a neutral arbitrator, which he exercised. *Id.* 

The District Court then specifically addressed four of Williams' arguments and attempts to distinguish his case from *Kern*. First, the District Court rejected Williams' argument that he never understood the "charges" against him or the facts on which they were based. The District Court found this argument to not be credible, given Williams' law enforcement experience, and that the Summary of Complaint – as well as the later meeting with Bullock – made it clear that the focus of the concerns was Williams' warrantless search on April 18, 2018. App. 1:545. Second, the District Court rejected Williams' argument that the DPS search and seizure policy was a "gray area" because the search occurred in a dormitory. The District Court noted that the policy is

broadly written and affords no exception to residence hall searches.

Id.

Next, the District Court rejected Williams' claim that he was following the community caretaker exception to the warrant requirement, finding that the exception did not apply to the situation and that Williams' reliance on it was unconvincing given his conduct. *Id.* Rather, the District Court surmised that Williams' explanations "appear[ed] simply to be excuses...to attempt to justify behavior that he knew was improper (or at the least knew likely was improper) at the time it occurred." Id. Finally, the District Court addressed Williams' contention that DPS did not follow its own policies and procedures when disciplining Williams. While the District Court noted that this issue may have made DPS's conduct "appear somewhat haphazard," it ultimately had little bearing on the issue at hand. Instead, the District Court noted that "[j]ust like the inquiry in this case is not simply whether Williams received due process, it also is not whether he received the full benefit of a review consistent with existing DPS policy. Rather, the inquiry is confined to whether the process Williams received was adequate to comply with Iowa's Veteran's Preference statute." *Id*. The District Court then summarily rejected the remainder of Williams' arguments. *Id*.

## C. Why the District Court Did Not Err in Its Ruling

In his brief, Williams challenges the District Court's Ruling in four ways: (1) arguing that the District Court erred in its interpretation of § 35C.6 by "conflating" the phrases of "upon due notice" and "upon stated charges" when listing the requirements under § 35C.6; (2) arguing that it erred in concluding that the Summary of Complaint provided to Williams constituted "due notice" of a veteran's preference hearing; (3) that it erred in concluding that DPS provided Williams with "stated charges"; and (4) that it erred in concluding that the investigatory interview and Loudermill hearing constituted a "hearing" under § 35C.6. Appellant's Proof Brief, at 21-35. For the following reasons, Williams' arguments fail:

## i. No conflation of "due notice" and "stated charges"

Williams' first argument against the District Court's Ruling is that the District Court erred in its interpretation of § 35C.6 by "conflating" the phrases "upon due notice" and "upon stated charges" as a single requirement. Specifically, Williams simply points to the District Court's summary of the factors it needed to consider at the

outset of its legal analysis of Williams' veterans preference claim. Appellee's Proof Brief, at 26. However, Williams' argument fails because it is contradicted by the substance of the District Court's analysis, in which the District Court did address whether Williams received proper notice of the equivalent hearings.<sup>2</sup> Additionally, the District Court later summarized its conclusion in the manner fitting with Williams' proffered interpretation of § 35C.6. App. 1:547 ("Considering all of the above, the Court finds that Williams was not denied his right to a hearing, upon due notice *and* stated charges, as required by the Veteran's Preference statute.") (emphasis added).

ii. The Summary of Complaint provided Williams "due notice"

Williams' second argument is that the District Court erred in concluding that the Summary of Complaint provided to Williams constituted "due notice" of his veteran's preference hearing. Williams argues this was erroneous as the Summary of Complaint did not include any references to a veteran's preference hearing. This

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Specifically, the District Court's Ruling makes clear that it determined the University satisfied both the "due notice" and "state charges" requirements, with different portions of process provided to Williams. In that regard, the District Court did not conflate the requirements as one singular element, as Williams claims.

argument fails at the outset, because it is a mischaracterization of the District Court's conclusion.

While the District Court found that the Summary of Complaint provided Williams with "notice," that "notice" was as to the charges the University was levying against Williams, not "notice" of a hearing. App. 1:545 ("Williams received notice of the specific complaint against him when the Summary of Complaint he received on April 19th notified him there were concerns that the warrantless search he had performed, along with his conduct during the search, may be in violation of DPS and University policy."). In that respect, under the District Court's analysis, the Summary of Complaint substantiated the University's satisfaction of the "upon stated charges" requirement under § 35C.6. Indeed, even Williams' argument in his post-trial brief primarily focused on whether the Summary of Complaint provided him sufficient notice of the "stated charges" against him, not whether it provided him "due notice" of a veteran's preference hearing.<sup>3</sup> App.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Williams only raises the issue of due notice of a hearing in passing. App. 1:468-469 ("Also, Respondents cannot point to any record evidence where Williams was provided notice of a veterans' preference hearing."). In that vein, de novo review only applies to issues properly preserved and presented at the district court level.

1:467-468. Though the District Court does not specifically address the issue of "due notice of a hearing," the Ruling clearly demonstrates that the District Court considered the issue and found in favor of Appellees. App. 1:547 ("Any other arguments made by Williams in his Amended Brief or his Reply Brief and not specifically addressed herein have been considered and rejected.").

## iii. Williams was provided "stated charges"

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